RECEIVED

Apr 13 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Diane S. Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

Case No: 2022-CP-10-03009
Appellate Case No. 2025-001650

Philip Woschenko,

Appellant,

v.

**Sonya Kurien and Kyle Snouffer,.....
of whom Sonya Kurien is the respondent.**

Defendants,

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

The Law Offices of Joshua E. Slavin, LLC
/s/ Joshua Slavin
PO Box 762, Mount Pleasant, SC 29465
Phone: 843-619-7338; Fax: 888-246-8914
Email: josh@attorneycarolina.com
SC Bar ID: 102912
Attorney for the Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1. Did the lower court err in granting summary judgment as to Appellant’s Defamation action arising from the July 31, 2020 911 call, finding statutory immunity and conditional privilege applied as a matter of law, where evidence of bad faith and abuse of privilege, confirmed by subsequent conflicting judicial findings in the same case, created genuine issues of material fact reserved for the jury?

2. Did the lower court err in granting summary judgment as to Appellant’s Outrage and Civil Conspiracy actions based on Appellant’s failure to submit evidence creating a factual basis or evidence of emotional damages, when the Defendant failed to state these grounds with particularity in her motion, thus denying Appellant notice as required by the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 5, 2022, Plaintiff Philip Woschenko (hereinafter, “Appellant”) initiated this action against Defendant Sonya Kurien (hereinafter, “Respondent”) and Co-Defendant Kyle Snouffer, asserting claims for Defamation, Outrage / Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress (IIED), and Civil Conspiracy. (R. pp. 28-34, 48-55).

The action centers on the Defendants’ repeated, unfounded public accusations regarding Appellant’s alleged sexual abuse of his daughter and physical abuse of his son. These specific allegations, which were fully investigated by law enforcement, South Carolina Department of Social Services (DSS), and a forensic interviewer, were officially determined to be “Unfounded” by March 21, 2019. (R. pp. 159-163, Ap. 22-27, 36). Nevertheless, Respondent and Co-Defendant Snouffer continued to assert these falsities to not only the police and medical providers, but to an unknown number of other members of the public.

Currently, this matter comes before the Court, in part, on Respondent’s Partial Motion to Dismiss and Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 42-47). Respondent’s Motion sought judgment on the Defamation claim stemming from a July 31, 2020 police dispatch call, asserting that the communication was “cloaked in statutory immunity” and was privileged. *Id.* For the

Outrage and Civil Conspiracy claims, Respondent argued for dismissal because Appellant had “no proof at all to support those allegations.” *Id.*

On August 1, 2024, the Honorable Judge Dian Schafer Goodstein issued an Order granting in part Respondent’s Partial Motion to Dismiss and granting the Motion for Summary Judgment in full. (R. pp. 4-11). As to Respondent’s summary judgment motion, Judge Goodstein found that Respondent’s statements to a consolidated call center on July 31, 2020 were protected by statutory immunity (S.C. Code Ann. § 63-7-390) and conditional privilege. *Id.* Regarding the Outrage and Civil Conspiracy claims, Judge Goodstein granted summary judgment to Respondent on the grounds that Plaintiff/Appellant failed to present sufficient evidence of emotional damages. *Id.*

After Judge Goodstein’s August 1, 2024 Order, two separate Circuit Court judges issued rulings in this same case that directly addressed and contradicted the substance of the dismissed claims. Co-Defendant Kyle Snouffer filed a Motion for Summary Judgment based on substantially the same facts and legal arguments as those adopted by Judge Goodstein (statutory immunity, privilege, and insufficient evidence for Outrage and Civil Conspiracy). Judge Van Slambrook denied Snouffer's motion in its entirety, finding a genuine issue of material fact existed as to whether Snouffer's subsequent defamatory statements were made in “good faith” or for the purpose of defaming the Appellant. (R. pp. 12-22). Furthermore, Judge Van Slambrook explicitly held that the Appellant did address each element of Civil Conspiracy and Outrage, and “supported his arguments with evidence,” contradicting Judge Goodstein's finding of a lack of factual basis. *Id.*

Respondent filed a subsequent motion seeking summary judgment on the single remaining defamation claim based on a May 7, 2021 statement made to MUSC providers. Judge Rode denied this motion, finding there was a genuine issue of material fact as to “whether defendant’s statements... were made with malice and/or whether the statements fall within qualified privilege.”

(R. pp. 23-25).

On August 7, 2024, Appellant filed a timely Motion to Alter or Amend the August 1, 2024, Order pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC, arguing the Court improperly ruled on questions of fact reserved for the jury and granted summary judgment on Outrage and Civil Conspiracy on grounds not argued or noticed by Respondent, particularly the absence of evidence of damages. (R. pp. 94-100).

On July 24, 2025, the Honorable Judge Diane Schafer Goodstein issued an Order denying the Appellant's Motion to Alter or Amend. (R. pp. 26-27). The final order confirmed the original ruling, stating that the Appellant failed to move to alter or amend the finding of statutory immunity (S.C. Code § 63-7-390), rendering reconsideration moot. *Id.* The Order also added that the Civil Conspiracy claim was now moot due to the settlement with Co-Defendant Kyle Snouffer. *Id.* This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial court may only grant a motion for summary judgment when “the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” Rule 56(c), SCRPC. An appellate court reviews the granting of summary judgment under the same standard applied by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56, SCRPC. *Wells v. City of Lynchburg*, 331 S.C. 296, 501 S.E.2d 746 (Ct.App.1998).

In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the Court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences that may be drawn from the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Manning v. Quinn*, 294 S.C. 383, 385, 365 S.E.2d 24, 25 (1988). On appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review all ambiguities,

conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party below. *Osborne v. Adams*, 346 S.C. 4, 7, 550 S.E.2d 319, 321 (2001).

Moreover, summary judgment is not appropriate when further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law. *Tupper v. Dorchester County*, 326 S.C. 318, 487 S.E.2d 187 (1997). Summary judgment should not be granted even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts if there is a dispute as to the conclusion to be drawn from those facts. *Id.*

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Appellant and Respondent are the parents of two children who both have severe autism and limited communication skills. (R. p. Ap. 8, 50-51 58). Co-Defendant Snouffer was the children's in-home behavioral technician. The marital conflict began in December 2018 when Respondent asked Appellant to move out and immediately initiated a sexual relationship with Snouffer – the children's caretaker. (R. p. Ap. 49).

Respondent alleged their non-verbal daughter disclosed sexual abuse the night Appellant moved out (December 9, 2018), but waited ten days to file a police report and permitted Appellant continued unsupervised time with the children. (R. pp. Ap. 16, 18-21). Appellant disputes that his daughter was “distraught” during this time.

Between January and March 2019, multiple independent investigations – including by the Folly Beach Police Department, the South Carolina Department of Social Services (DSS), and a forensic interview – unanimously concluded the allegations were “Unfounded,” finding no forensic, direct, or circumstantial evidence of abuse. (R. pp. 159-163, Ap. 18-27).

Despite these allegations being declared unfounded over a year and half earlier, Respondent and Snouffer continued to falsely accuse Appellant of abuse:

July 31, 2020 Respondent’s Police 911 Call: Respondent called police dispatch to state

that her daughter was “sexually molested” by Appellant and claimed that Appellant was harassing her. (R. pp. 184, Ap. 28, CD)

July 31, 2020 Incident: During a police-accompanied retrieval of Appellant’s belongings, Snouffer told officers that Appellant “molested [Respondent’s] 12-year-old autistic daughter.” (R. pp. 48-55, Ap. 29 CD).

September 2020 Workplace Harassment: Snouffer appeared at Appellant’s place of work (Costco) to make derogatory comments about the affair and repeat the abuse allegations to Appellant’s co-workers.

May 7, 2021 Hospital Allegations: Appellant’s and Respondent’s son was hospitalized for rib fractures and constipation, shortly after a physical altercation between the son and Snouffer at Disney World that required EMS intervention. (R. pp. Ap. 15-16, 50-51). While the son was hospitalized, Respondent told hospital staff that Appellant physically and sexually abused the son while simultaneously repeating the prior sexual abuse claims regarding the daughter. (R. pp. Ap. 51, 55, 58). The examining physician's note confirmed the son’s behaviors were "not diagnostic for sexual abuse." (R. p. Ap. 58). This new set of accusations resulted in another DSS referral, which, like the previous ones, concluded that no abuse was found, and no criminal charges were filed.

Despite repeatedly making these accusations of heinous abuse, Respondent never sought sole custody of her children and often asked Appellant to watch their children on days she had custody.

ARGUMENT

- 1a. The lower court erred in granting summary judgment as to Appellant’s Defamation action regarding the July 31, 2020 911 call, finding statutory immunity applied as a matter of law, where evidence of bad faith and abuse of privilege, confirmed by subsequent conflicting judicial findings in the same**

case, created genuine issues of material fact reserved for the jury.

The lower court granted summary judgment for the statements made during the July 31, 2020 911 call, finding Respondent was entitled to statutory immunity (S.C. Code Ann. § 63-7-390) and conditional privilege. (R. pp. 4-11). This was based on the finding that the Appellant provided “no evidence... to show bad faith.” *Id.* This constitutes error because the application of these defenses depends on a factual finding regarding Respondent’s good faith, which Appellant demonstrated was highly disputed.

S.C. Code Ann. § 63-7-390 provides in relevant part:

A person required or permitted to report pursuant to Section 63-7-310 or who participates in an investigation or judicial proceedings resulting from the report, acting in good faith, is immune from civil and criminal liability which might otherwise result by reason of these actions. In all such civil or criminal proceedings, good faith is rebuttably presumed. Immunity under this section extends to full disclosure by the person of facts which gave the person reason to believe that the child's physical or mental health or welfare had been or might be adversely affected by abuse or neglect.

Under the statute, immunity only applies if the reporter is “acting in good faith.” Good faith is rebuttably presumed. Appellant provided evidence sufficient to rebut this presumption and place the issue before a jury.

Respondent’s sworn deposition testimony revealed she did not seek sole custody of her daughter despite claiming to believe the Appellant sexually abused her. (R. pp. Ap. 16). This lack of protective action directly undermines the requirement that the communication be made “in good faith” to protect the child's interest, creating a genuine question of fact regarding the same. In her deposition, Respondent was directly questioned about her decisions regarding custody, given the nature of her accusations. (*Id.*) When asked if she wanted sole custody of her children in the divorce, Respondent replied, “No.” She was then pressed: “You didn’t want sole custody, even though you believed that your ex-husband sexually abused your daughter?” Respondent again

replied, “No.” (*Id.*) When asked if she wanted sole custody of their son, even though she believed the Appellant was “capable of one of the worst crimes imaginable,” Respondent still replied, “No.” (*Id.*) That Respondent did not seek sole custody of her children, even though she claimed to believe the Appellant was “capable of one of the worst crimes imaginable,” creates a clear contradiction and/or dispute of material fact.

Judge Goodstein’s conclusion that there was “no evidence” to show bad faith is further challenged by subsequent rulings in this action. Two other lower court judges found that similar allegations of bad faith in this same case created a genuine issue of material fact as to these defenses, requiring jury resolution. Judge Van Slambrook found a genuine issue of material fact as to whether co-Defendant Snouffer's subsequent statements were made in “good faith,” and Judge Rode found a genuine issue of material fact existed regarding whether Respondent’s subsequent May 7, 2021, statements were made with malice. (R. pp. 12-22, 23-25). The fact that multiple judges reached differing conclusions on similar evidence and identical defenses confirms that there is sufficient evidence to raise a genuine issue of material fact that cannot be decided as a matter of law.

A jury could reasonably infer that if Respondent genuinely believed her daughter was subjected to sexual abuse, a parent would seek sole custody to prevent further harm. Her admitted lack of desire for sole custody directly conflicts with a finding that she acted in good faith to protect the children's welfare when repeating the allegations. A jury could also reasonably find that repeating allegations that had been investigated and deemed unfounded 19 months earlier demonstrates bad faith by Appellant. As South Carolina law makes clear, summary judgment should not be granted even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts if there is a dispute as to the conclusion to be drawn from those facts.

Respondent's admitted refusal to pursue sole custody, despite claiming she believed Appellant physically and sexually abused their children, and her repetition of investigated and deemed unfounded allegations constitute a genuine issue of material fact regarding her good faith, thereby defeating the motion for summary judgment on the basis of statutory immunity.

1b. The lower court erred in granting summary judgment based on conditional privilege, as evidence demonstrated that Respondent abused the privilege by failing to make the statements "honestly" or limit their scope, thereby raising a question of fact reserved for the jury.

The principle articulated in *Bell v. Bank of Abbeville*, 208 S.C. 490, 493–94, 38 S.E.2d 641, 643 (S.C. 1946) holds that a communication is privileged by reason of the occasion when one party has an interest in the subject matter and the recipient has a corresponding interest. Crucially, the court established the following requirements for the privilege to provide a defense: the communication must be "honestly made," in order to protect such a common interest; the statement must be such as the occasion warrants; and the statement must be made in good faith to protect the interests of the one who makes it and the persons to whom it is addressed. *Id.*

The common law defense of conditional or qualified privilege protects publications only if the privilege is not abused. *Swinton Creek Nursery v. Edisto Farm Credit, ACA*, 334 S.C. 469, 484–85, 514 S.E.2d 126 (S.C. 1999). While whether a privilege may apply is a question of law for the court, the question of whether the privilege has been abused is one for the jury. *Id.* Abuse occurs if the statement is not "honestly made" or exceeds the scope warranted by the occasion. *Id.*

Again, the testimony showing Respondent's unwillingness to seek sole custody, despite claiming to believe the Appellant was a sexual abuser, directly challenges whether her communications were "honestly made" to protect a corresponding interest. Evidence of bad faith or malice negates the privilege. A reasonable jury could find that Respondent did not "honestly believe" the allegations she was repeating – which included claims of sexual abuse of one's own

child, "one of the worst crimes imaginable" – if she was simultaneously unwilling to seek sole custody or otherwise protect her children from their supposed abuser. This strong disconnect creates a genuine question of fact for the jury regarding whether Respondent honestly believed the claims when she repeated the debunked allegations, such as during the July 31, 2020, 911 call.

The context of Respondent's call also demonstrates abuse of the privilege. Appellant had both kids for the evening; Respondent and Defendant Snouffer put Appellant's personal belongings on the front porch that evening and told him they were out there; Appellant went to collect his personal belongings and asked for the police to be present. Respondent called the law enforcement consolidated call center for a well-check and again repeated her 19-month-old unfounded allegation about Appellant. (R. p. Ap 28, audio recording). If the jury determines the statements were not made in good faith, the conditional privilege is stripped away, allowing the defamation claim to proceed.

In her briefing to the trial court, Respondent cited "*Swinton Creek Nursery v. Edisto Farm Credit, ACA*, 326 S.C. 426, 483 S.E.2d 789 (S.C. 1999)" as an opinion from the South Carolina Supreme Court affirming a directed verdict on the issue of conditional privilege. (R. pp. 102). In fact, the opinion Respondent cited was reversed by the Supreme Court in *Swinton Creek Nursery v. Edisto Farm Credit, ACA*, 334 S.C. 469, 514 S.E.2d 126 (S.C. 1999). Instead of affirming the trial court's grant of a directed verdict as Respondent's memo suggested, the Supreme Court ruled that a question existed for the jury to decide whether the privilege was exceeded or abused. *Id.* at 486.

The Supreme Court's *Swinton Creek Nursery* decision provides:

In general, the question whether an occasion gives rise to a qualified or conditional privilege is one of law for the court. 50 Am.Jur.2d *Libel and*

Slander § 276 (1995). However, **the question whether the privilege has been abused is one for the jury.** *Id.* Factual inquiries, such as whether the defendants acted in good faith in making the statement, whether the scope of the statement was properly limited in its scope, and whether the statement was sent only to the proper parties, are generally left in the hands of the jury to determine whether the privilege was abused.

Id. at 484-85 (emphasis added).

In the initial briefing and at the hearing on Respondent's motions for summary judgment and dismissal, Appellant showed ample evidence to support a jury finding that a conditional privilege was abused. (R. pp. 80-93, 111-141). Repeating the specific, debunked sexual abuse allegation – which had been investigated and dismissed 19 months earlier – to the consolidated call center operator exceeded the proper scope warranted by the occasion (a simple welfare check request). The repetition of the specific, debunked sexual abuse allegation to the 911 operator during a request for a simple welfare check was unnecessary and exceeded the scope warranted by the occasion. When presented with evidence of the same allegation in a very similar context (to their son's doctor at MUSC), Judge Rode determined there was at least a question of fact for the jury and denied Respondent's second summary judgment motion. (R. pp. 23-25). Largely the same evidence and arguments were presented in Appellant's response to Co-Defendant Snouffer's summary judgment motion, which Judge Van Slambrook also agreed raised a question of fact for the jury. (R. pp. 12-22). As the case law makes abundantly clear, determining whether this constituted an abuse of privilege is traditionally a question reserved for the jury when facts are controversial.

2. **The lower court erred in granting summary judgment as to the Outrage and Civil Conspiracy actions on grounds not argued by the moving party, thereby**

denying Appellant notice and constituting reversible error.

The lower court granted summary judgment on the Outrage (IIED) and Civil Conspiracy claims because Appellant “failed to submit evidence to create a genuine issue of material fact that there is a factual basis” for these claims, even though the Court noted it was “conceivable that Plaintiff could have suffered emotional damages.” (R. pp. 4). The Order does not address the arguments actually made by Respondent.

The lower court committed reversible error by relying on a failure of proof concerning factual basis and emotional damages because this ground was not argued or noticed by Respondent. Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment requested dismissal of Outrage and Conspiracy based solely on the argument that they were attempts to “re-package” defamation claims and that conspiracy was a “legal impossibility”. (R. pp. 64-66, 67-68, 69-79).

Respondent's arguments for summary judgment did not include a challenge to the factual sufficiency of emotional damages. During the May 29, 2024 hearing, Respondent's counsel, Mr. DeAntonio, characterized the Outrage and Civil Conspiracy claims as “two throwaway... causes of action.” (R. pp. 121). He argued that Outrage was precluded because it was based only on the defamation and was an impermissible "repackaging" of the defamation claim. (R. pp. 122-23). For Civil Conspiracy, he argued that the claim could not lie because the Defendants “didn't co-author anything” and there was “no joint communication.” (R. pp. 123). The entirety of the Respondent's argument focused on the legal impossibility of the claims, not a factual insufficiency regarding emotional damages or underlying elements.

At no point in Respondent's MSJ, supporting memorandum, or oral argument was it specifically argued that the Appellant failed to produce evidence of emotional damages or challenge the factual basis for the independent elements of Outrage or Conspiracy. In fact,

Appellant’s counsel, Mr. Slavin, explicitly noted in opposition that summary judgment could not be granted based on the “limited argument raised by [Respondent] in her motion.” (R. pp. 133).

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