**RECEIVED**

**Apr 13 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Diane S. Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2022-CP-10-0309  
Appellate Case No. 2025-001650

---

Philip Woschenko,  
Appellant,

v.

Sonya Kurien and Kyle Snouffer, Defendants,  
of whom Sonya Kurien is the Respondent.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

DEANTONIO LAW FIRM, LLC  
*s/Stephen F. DeAntonio*  
Stephen F. DeAntonio, Esq.  
Post Office Box 30069  
Charleston, South Carolina 29417  
T: 843-577-8080 / F: 843-577-4188  
E: [sdeantonio@deanlawfirm.com](mailto:sdeantonio@deanlawfirm.com)  
ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT KURIEN

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

## ARGUMENT

### I. BECAUSE APPELLANT FAILED TO PROPERLY PRESERVE THE ISSUE OF STATUTORY IMMUNITY, THE TRIAL COURT’S RULING SHOULD BE AFFIRMED

Judge Goodstein correctly noted in her Order denying reconsideration that Appellant “...did not move to alter amend (or reconsider) the Court’s finding that Sonya Kurien had statutory immunity as a permissive reporter per S.C. Code Ann. §63-7-390, rendering the reconsideration of the granting of Summary Judgment moot.” R. p. 26. Appellant only raised the issue of conditional privilege. R. p. 94. While the original order’s section on immunity falls under the headline of conditional privilege, the detailed discussion is on immunity. R. p. 4. Even though the two are distinct defenses, if a defendant is immune from all civil liability, it follows that the statements are additionally privileged. Therefore, it stands to reason that following the lengthy passage on immunity, there is also a ruling that summary judgment was granted on the basis of a conditional privilege.

An argument presented at a summary judgment hearing but not raised in a motion for reconsideration is not preserved. Metts v. Mims, 384 S.C. 491, 682 S.E.2d 813 (2009). South Carolina appellate courts do not recognize the “plain error rule,” under which a court in certain circumstances is allowed to consider and rectify an error not raised below by the party. Elam v. S.C. Dept’t of Transp., 361 S.C. 9, 602 S.E.2d 780 (2004). An appellate court may affirm the trial court on any ground apparent in the record. Smalls v. Weed, 291 S.C. 258, 353 S.E.2d 154 (Ct. App. 1987).

Effectively, the Court can end its inquiry here, because the immunity afforded per statute states that a permissive reporter “...is *immune from civil and criminal liability* which might otherwise result by reason of these actions.” S.C. Code Ann. §63-7-310 (emphasis added). As

such, the Respondent is immune from all causes of action brought forth in this case. The trial court's Order should be affirmed.

II. BECAUSE APPELLANT SETTLED HIS CASE WITH THE CO-DEFENDANT, THE CONSPIRACY CAUSE OF ACTION IS MOOT

Appellant settled his claim with Co-Defendant Kyle Snouffer at mediation. R. p. 215. By operation of law, this defeats the conspiracy cause of action because the count requires at least two tortfeasors.

An essential element of the tort of conspiracy is that it requires "...the combination or agreement of two or more persons..." Paradis v. Charleston Cnty. Sch. Dist., 433 S.C. 562, 861 S.E. 2d 774 (2021). There can be no conspiracy of one. Only one Defendant remains in this case, the Respondent. Therefore, the appeal of the grant of summary judgment has been mooted by Appellant's settlement with former Co-Defendant Snouffer.

III. BECAUSE APPELLANT SUBMITTED NO EVIDENCE, OR INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE, TO SUPPORT HIS OUTRAGE CLAIM, THERE IS NO BASIS TO REVERSE THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING

South Carolina recognizes that "one's willful, malicious conduct proximately causing another's emotional distress may be actionable" as intentional infliction of emotional distress or the tort of outrage. Ford v. Hutson, 276 S.C. 157, 276 S.E.2d 776, (1981). Initially, it is for the trial court to determine whether the defendant's conduct may be considered so extreme and outrageous as to permit recovery, and only where reasonable minds might differ should the issue be submitted to the jury. Hainer v. Am. Med. Int'l, Inc., 320 S.C. 316, 465 S.E.2d 112, (Ct. App. 1995), *aff'd as modified*, 328 S.C. 128, 492 S.E.2d 103 (1997).

Significantly, Appellant presented only theory to combat summary judgment. The theory included Respondent made "allegations" following the S.C. Department of Social Services categorization of investigative results of unfounded. The Appellant himself admitted as much in

his deposition, excerpts of which beginning on R. 212, line 24:

Q. Now, what is your proof that Sonya Kurien  
25 intentionally or recklessly inflicted severe emotional  
Page 92

1 distress on you?

2 MR. SLAVIN: Object to the form.

3 THE WITNESS: Can you repeat the question?

4 I want to make sure I understand.

5 BY MR. DeANTONIO:

6 Q. Sure. The objection will stand. But you

7 have included a cause of action called intentional

8 infliction of emotional distress.

9 A. Okay.

10 Q. So my question, naturally, as a lawyer is:

11 How did she intentionally or recklessly inflict severe

12 emotional distress upon you?

13 A. Once the charges were dismissed, she

14 should have not continued making the allegations.

R, p. 213.

This is significant because it has been said that an action for outrage does not lie where the facts support a defamation action. See Evans v. Rite Aid Corp., 317 S.C. 154, 452 S.E.2d 9, (Ct. App. 1994) (Citing Judge Bristow's holding in the underlying action that the dismissal for the outrage cause of action was the law of the case).

“It is not sufficient for a party to create an inference that is not reasonable or an issue of fact that is not genuine.” Kitchen Planners, *supra*. The Appellant failed to meet this burden of showing a genuine issue of material fact to which the court could rule for a denial of summary judgment. The granting of summary judgment on the outrage claim should be affirmed.

IV. DESPITE APPELLANT'S FAILURE TO PRESERVE A CHALLENGE TO IMMUNITY, THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT TO RULE RESPONDENT WAS PROTECTED AS A MATTER OF LAW BECAUSE OF IMMUNITY AND CONDITIONAL PRIVILEGE

The subject matter of the defamation allegations that were dismissed are referenced in paragraphs 19 and 20 of the First Amended Complaint. R. p. 50. They concern events occurring

on July 31, 2020, Mr. Woschenko arrived at Kurien's home unannounced to pick up his property. At the time, Kurien had sole use of the martial home and Plaintiff was not allowed on the property. R. p. 154, lines 9-12. The visit by Mr. Woschenko was not coordinated by counsel nor was Defendant Kurien aware that Mr. Woschenko was coming to the property that evening. R. p. 154, lines 13-25. Mr. Woschenko had contacted the police to be present when he went to retrieve his property on July 31, 2020. R. p. 66, lines 18-24. Mr. Woschenko had the children with him when he went to retrieve the property. R. p. 155, lines 7-9. While Mr. Woschenko was retrieving the property, Daughter was attempting to exit Mr. Woschenko's vehicle and run to her mother. Daughter was distraught, upset, and was trying to reach her mom. Seeing Daughter in this manner distressed Mother. R. p.156, lines 3-10. Kurien later contacted the Plaintiff to speak to and check on Daughter, which the plaintiff refused Kurien. R. p. 157, lines 19-25; R. p. 158 lines 1-3. Unable to speak with Daughter and feeling unnerved by Daughter's attempt to flee her father, Kurien contacted the consolidated call center to have a welfare check performed on Daughter. R. P. 193, CD. During the call, Defendant gave notice to the operator that Daughter had autism, that she (Daughter) had made prior allegations of abuse by her father (Appellant), and gave other pertinent information related to the request. R. P. 193, CD.

#### A. Statutory Immunity

Judge Goodstein's Order details in compelling fashion why invoking statutory immunity was necessary and proper:

Specifically, S.C. Code Ann. § 63-7-390 provides:

A person required or permitted to report pursuant to Section 63-7-310 or who participates in an investigation or judicial proceedings resulting from the report, acting in good faith, is immune from civil and criminal liability

which might otherwise result by reason of these actions. In all such civil or criminal proceedings, good faith is rebuttably presumed.

Immunity under this section extends to full disclosure by the person of facts which gave the person reason to believe that the child's physical or mental health or welfare had been or might be adversely affected by abuse or neglect. S.C. Code Ann. § 63-7-390.

Defendant Kurien made a call to the consolidated call center to request a welfare check on Daughter. Based on the audio file submitted as Exhibit 5 to the Court, Kurien states she saw her special needs Daughter appearing upset. She articulates seeing her largely non-communicative child forced back into Plaintiff's vehicle, and had no further indication as to the wellbeing of Daughter. Kurien was unable to go to Plaintiff's residence to check on Daughter personally.

Taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, Defendant's statement to the CCC operator falls within the scope of S.C. Code Ann. § 63-7-310.

The Defendant presents no evidence other than the mere fact that the parties are involved in contentious litigation in the family court that the statements of Kurien were made in bad faith.

A person who has reason to believe that a child's welfare has been or may have been adversely affected by abuse or neglect may report and is encouraged to do so in accordance with the statute and allows for the reports to be made to the county Department of Social Services or a law enforcement agency in a county where the child resides. (S.C. Code Ann. § 63-7-310(d)(e))(emphasis added).

The Code continues:

A person required or permitted to report pursuant to Section 63-7-310 or who participates in an investigation or judicial proceedings resulting from the report, acting in good faith, is immune from civil and criminal liability which might otherwise result by reason of these actions. In all such civil or criminal proceedings, good faith is rebuttably presumed.

Immunity under this section extends to full disclosure by the person of facts which gave the person reason to believe that the child's physical or mental health or welfare had been or might be adversely affected by abuse or neglect. (S.C. Code Ann. §63-7-390).

...

Although there are pending matters in the family court regarding these issues, in this proceeding before the Circuit Court, there must be some form of evidentiary proof offered which has not been provided to show bad faith in accordance with the requirements of S.C. Code §63-7-390 to survive a Motion for Summary Judgment. Upon careful review and consideration, this Court finds that Defendant Kurien is a permissive reporter under S.C. Code §63-7-390, giving her statutory immunity for the statements made to the consolidated call center on July 31, 2020.

R. pps. 8-9.

#### B. Conditional Privilege

There are certain communications that give rise to privileges, which can be used as a defense in a defamation action. One such privilege is the conditional or qualified privilege. This privilege applies when the defamatory matter is published upon an occasion that makes it conditionally privileged, and the privilege is not abused. Kunst v. Loree, 424 S.C. 24, (Ct. App. 2018). The essential elements of conditionally privileged communication include good faith, an interest to be upheld, a statement limited in its scope to this purpose, a proper occasion, and publication in a proper manner and to proper parties only.

Under this defense, A person is not liable for the publication if the matter is published upon an occasion that makes it conditionally privileged and the privilege is not abused, and the Respondent must prove good faith, an interest to be upheld, a statement limited in its scope, a proper occasion, publication in a proper manner, and to the proper parties only (if it gives rise to privilege is the question of law for the court.). 50 Am. Jur.2d Libel and Slander §276 ; See also Harris v. Tietex Int'l Ltd., 417 S.C. 533 (Ct. App. 2016). In determining whether the communication was qualifiedly privileged, regard must be had to the occasion and to the relationship of the parties. When one has an interest in the subject matter of a communication, and the person (or persons) to whom it is made has a corresponding interest, every communication honestly made, to protect such common interest, is privileged by reason of the

occasion. The statement must be such as the occasion warrants and must be made in good faith to protect the interests of the one who makes it and the persons to whom it is addressed. Bell v. Bank of Abbeville, 208 S.C. 490, (1946); See also Kunst, *supra*.

As to the question of privilege, it is totally appropriate for a Court to find as a matter of law that a conditional privilege can be decided as a matter of law when there is an absence of abuse of the same. Our Supreme Court did just that in Swinton Creek Nursery v. Edisto Farm Credit, ACA, 326 S.C. 426, 483 S.E.2d 789 (S.C 1999) ("Here, the trial court correctly found as a matter of law that EFC established the existence of a qualified privilege and [326 S.C. 438] Plaintiffs failed to prove actual malice."). "It is not sufficient for a party to create an inference that is not reasonable or an issue of fact that is not genuine." Kitchen Planners, *supra*. "A party opposing summary judgment 'must ... 'do more than simply show that there is some metaphysical doubt as to the material facts' but 'must come forward with 'specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. ' '..." *Id.*

The information given through the call to the CCC operator was made to address the issue of safety concern for Daughter. Reporting of the Incident, Daughter's disabilities and the previous allegations made by Daughter were necessary to identify the purpose for seeking a welfare check of Daughter by Kurien and provide the operator with information as to concern of Respondent and potential welfare of Daughter. Respondent Kurien made these statements in good faith, in reference to protecting the welfare of Daughter and made these statements to CCC operator.

Respondent Kurien offered the statements in good faith, in reference to a proper interest and duty, and made the statements to the proper parties and upon the proper occasion the statements made are privileged. The Appellant's evidence to show bad faith, based on the

statements alleged in paragraphs 19 and 20 of the complaint, that the call was made to 911 and that the Respondent was claiming harassment, is shown to be false, as the call speaks for itself.

As the trial court noted, a parent's duty to care for and protect their child is held in our system to be of the highest societal importance. The paradigm of the parent-child relationship creates a legal duty for a parent to take reasonable care to act in the best interest of their child from harm. *See State v. Claypoole*, 371 S.C.473, 479 (Ct. App. 2006) (“...the nature of the parent-child relationship places a legal duty upon the parent to take all reasonable steps to protect a child from harm...”). *See also Stasi v. Sweigert*, 434 S.C. 239 (2021) (“a parent has a legal duty to care for and act in the best interest of his or her children.”).

### **CONCLUSION**

Respondent requests the Court affirm the decisions of the trial court below.